
 
 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
Special Meeting 
 
Date: Wednesday, 8 October 2014 
Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 
 
Contact Officer: Mark Delap 
Tel: 0151 691 8500 
e-mail: markdelap@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT – DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 
 

2. BUSINESS INVESTMENT GRANT (BIG) AND INTENSIVE START 
UP SCHEME (ISUS) INVESTIGATIONS (Pages 1 - 628) 

 
 This agenda pack contains the following documents –  

 
BIG and ISUS Investigations 
– Report of the Chief Executive (Pages 1 – 4) 
 
Appendix 1 Internal Audit Draft BIG Report (Pages 5 – 26) 
 
Appendix 2 Internal Audit Draft ISUS Report (Pages 27 – 44) 
 
Appendix 3 Review of Internal Audit Reports (Pages 45 – 52) 
 
Appendix 4 Grant Thornton ISUS Report 

– Executive Summary (Pages 53 – 74) 
 
Appendix 5 Grant Thornton ISUS Report 
  – Full Report (Pages 75 – 450) 
  Appendix 1 Enquiry Log (Pages 167 – 170) 
  Appendix 2 ISUS Files Reviewed (Pages 171 – 234) 
  Documents 1 – 17 (Pages 235 – 450) 
 

Public Document Pack



Appendix 6 Letter from Merseyside Police (Pages 451 – 454) 
 
Appendix 7 BIG Summary Report (Pages 455 – 462) 
 
Appendix 8 ISUS Summary Report (Pages 463 – 470) 
 
Appendix 9 Grant Thornton BIG Report 
  – Full Report (Pages 471 – 586) 
  Appendix 1 (Pages 533 – 534) 
  Appendix 2 (Pages 535 – 536) 
  Appendix 3 (Pages 537 – 538) 
  Documents 1 – 12 (Pages 539 – 586) 
 
Appendix 10 Grant Thornton BIG Report 

– Executive Summary (Pages 587 – 604) 
 
Appendix 11 Agreement between NWDA and Wirral Council 

dated 17 September 2009 (Pages 605 – 616) 
 
Appendix 12 Internal Audit Report Working Wirral Regeneration 

dated 8 March 2010 (Pages 617 – 628) 
 

3. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 1)  

 
4. EXEMPT INFORMATION 

– EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
 The public may be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 

the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information. 
 
RECOMMENDATION – That in accordance with section 100A (4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items of business, on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined by the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) to that Act. The public interest test has been applied and 
favours exclusion. 
 

5. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 2)  

 
 
 



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
7 OCTOBER 2014 
 
SUBJECT BUSINESS INVESTMENT GRANT (BIG) 

AND INTENSIVE START-UP SUPPORT 
(ISUS) INVESTIGATIONS 

WARD/S AFFECTED ALL 
REPORT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
KEY DECISION NO 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to share the outcomes from Grant Thornton’s 

reports into the Business Investment Grant (BIG) and Intensive Start-Up 
Support (ISUS) schemes with the Audit and Risk Management Committee.  

 
1.2. This report contains the initial draft reports produced by the former Chief 

Internal Auditor. The initial draft reports are attached at Appendix 1 and 2. 
 
1.3. A review, requested by the Chief Executive, of the initial draft reports 

undertaken by the then Interim Director of Finance is attached at Appendix 3. 
This review recommended that an external firm of accountants or solicitors 
specialising in investigations for local authorities reviewed the evidence, 
allegations and investigations that had taken place in relation to both BIG and 
ISUS. 

 
1.4. Following a tender process Grant Thornton were appointed to deliver this 

work. The ISUS reports, appendices and documents to accompany the 
reports are attached at Appendix 5, with the Executive Summary at Appendix 
4. The BIG report is attached at Appendix 9, with the accompanying Executive 
Summary attached at Appendix 10. 

 
1.5. Grant Thornton recommended that the Council consider referring the findings 

of its report into ISUS to the Police. As the provider was the same for the BIG 
scheme, the Council made the decision to also refer the BIG report to the 
Police for their consideration, in the interests of openness and transparency. 
The Police, after reviewing both reports, subsequently wrote to the Council 
advising that no action was to be taken following receipt of Grant Thornton’s 
draft reports. See Appendix 6 for the Police letter. 

 
1.6.   Given that ISUS utilised North West Development Agency (NWDA) Funding, 

the ISUS report was initially referred by the Council to the Department for 
Business, Innovation and Skills (’BIS’) and thereafter to the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (‘DCLG’) for consideration following the 
abolition of the NWDA. 

 
1.7. To assist the Committee, a further two summary reports have been produced 

(see Appendix 7 and 8) by the Council, each of which provides a summary of 
events and background from the period when the matters were first raised 
with the Council to the point at which Grant Thornton provided its finalised 
reports.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
2.0. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 
2.1. In June 2011 a former employee of Enterprise Solutions Ltd raised concerns 

about the BIG and ISUS grant programmes with the Council’s Director of 
Regeneration, who immediately notified the Council’s Monitoring Officer when 
it became evident that the complaint was made under PIDA.  

 
2.2.    The complainant was subsequently joined by a second former employee of the 

same company in raising these concerns. 
 
2.3. These concerns were the subject of an investigation by the Council’s Chief 

Internal Auditor as referenced at paragraph 1.2, before the decision was taken 
to appoint an external firm to review the evidence, allegations and 
investigations that had taken place. 

 
2.4. In March 2013 Grant Thornton delivered two draft reports to the Council, in 

relation to BIG and ISUS respectively. 
 
2.5. Grant Thornton reported that no concerns were identified regarding the 

integrity or honesty of any Wirral Council employees. 
 
2.6. Acting on recommendations made by Grant Thornton in relation to ISUS, the 

Council referred the two draft reports to the Police. The ISUS and BIG reports 
were also referred to BIS. 

 
2.7.   Merseyside Police wrote to the Council on 23rd April 2014 advising that no 

action was to be taken following receipt of Grant Thornton’s draft reports. 
 
2.8. The Council reported the Police response to the external investigator. The 

finalised Grant Thornton reports were received by Wirral Council in May 2014. 
 
2.9. The Council is still awaiting a final response from BIS. 
 
3.0. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1. The recommendations made by Grant Thornton in relation to monitoring and 

best practice have been noted and actioned where appropriate. 
 
3.2. The BIG and ISUS schemes have been mostly successful funding 

programmes and have both had a positive effect on Wirral’s economy and 
business community.  

 
3.3. Merseyside Police conducted their own investigation and notified Wirral 

Council that no action was to be taken, commenting on the Council’s 
openness and assistance during the enquiry. 

 
4.0. RELEVANT RISKS 
 
4.1. The Council, when it became aware of the allegations, initiated steps to 

ensure they were investigated. Matters have been kept under review and 
when appropriate additional steps taken to ensure the allegations were 
investigated. 

 
Page 2



4.2. The Council has endeavoured to investigate the allegations that have been 
made and has referred them to the Police and BIS. 

 
5.0. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
5.1.  No other options considered. 
 
6.0. CONSULTATION 
 
6.1. Requisite consultation has taken place with Grant Thornton with regards to 

disclosure of the reports. 
 
7.0. IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 
 
7.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
8.0. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. Inevitably there are resource implications arising in undertaking investigations 

of this kind. However, such issues whilst relevant are not overriding factors 
when dealing with allegations and issues of the kind stated in this report and 
the appendices. 

 
9.0. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. The Council has an obligation to consider the allegations and issues that have 

been raised. The Council must consider the findings and conclusions 
reached. 

 
9.2. The Council must reach its decision on further steps/actions based on the 

evidence available.  
 
10.0. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality? 
 
 No because there is no relevance to equality. 

 
11.0. CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
12.0. PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
13.0. RECOMMENDATION 
 
13.1. That the Committee: 
 

(a) notes the report; 
 

Page 3



(b) accepts the findings reported by Grant Thornton and Merseyside Police 
into the allegations made in respect of BIG and ISUS grant programmes; 
and 
 

(c) Subject to the response of the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (‘DCLG’), the Chief Executive shall undertake all necessary 
steps to address any points/issues raised by DCLG and report back to 
this Committee. 

 
14.0. REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
14.1. To provide Members of the Committee with assurance that the Council has 

investigated the allegations made by the complainants and taken appropriate 
action in response to the findings identified by Grant Thornton.  

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Graham Burgess 
  Chief Executive 
  telephone:  0151 691 8589 
  email: grahamburgess@wirral.gov.uk  
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Internal Audit Draft BIG Report 
Appendix 2: Internal Audit Draft ISUS Report 
Appendix 3: Review of Internal Audit Reports 
Appendix 4: Grant Thornton ISUS Report – Executive Summary 
Appendix 5: Grant Thornton ISUS Report –  
 Full Report (including Appendices 1 – 2 and Documents 1 – 17) 
Appendix 6: Letter from Merseyside Police 
Appendix 7: BIG Summary Report 
Appendix 8: ISUS Summary Report 
Appendix 9: Grant Thornton BIG Report –  
 Full Report (including Appendices 1 – 3 and Documents 1 – 12) 
Appendix 10: Grant Thornton BIG Report – Executive Summary 
Appendix 11 Agreement between NWDA and Wirral Council 
  dated 17 September 2009 
Appendix 12 Internal Audit Report dated 8 March 2010 
  Working Wirral Regeneration 
 
REFERENCE MATERIAL 

N/A 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 
Audit and Risk Management Committee   

 

Page 4



APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Internal Audit Draft BIG Report 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



APPENDIX 2 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Internal Audit Draft ISUS Report 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



APPENDIX 3 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Review of Internal Audit Reports 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



APPENDIX 4 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Grant Thornton ISUS Report 
– Executive Summary 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



APPENDIX 5 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Full Grant Thornton ISUS Report 
 

including – 
(i) Enquiry Log 
(ii) Details of ISUS Files Reviewed 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



DOCUMENT 4

Page 245



DOCUMENT 4

Page 246



DOCUMENT 4

Page 247



DOCUMENT 4

Page 248



DOCUMENT 4

Page 249



DOCUMENT 4

Page 250



DOCUMENT 4

Page 251



DOCUMENT 4

Page 252



DOCUMENT 4

Page 253



DOCUMENT 4

Page 254



DOCUMENT 4

Page 255



DOCUMENT 4

Page 256



DOCUMENT 4

Page 257



DOCUMENT 4

Page 258



DOCUMENT 4

Page 259



DOCUMENT 4

Page 260



DOCUMENT 4

Page 261



DOCUMENT 4

Page 262



DOCUMENT 4

Page 263



DOCUMENT 4

Page 264



DOCUMENT 4

Page 265



DOCUMENT 4

Page 266



DOCUMENT 4

Page 267



DOCUMENT 4

Page 268



DOCUMENT 4

Page 269



DOCUMENT 4

Page 270



DOCUMENT 4

Page 271



DOCUMENT 4

Page 272



DOCUMENT 4

Page 273



DOCUMENT 4

Page 274



DOCUMENT 5

Page 275



DOCUMENT 5

Page 276



DOCUMENT 5

Page 277



DOCUMENT 5

Page 278



DOCUMENT 5

Page 279



DOCUMENT 5

Page 280



DOCUMENT 5

Page 281



DOCUMENT 5

Page 282



DOCUMENT 5

Page 283



DOCUMENT 5

Page 284



DOCUMENT 5

Page 285



DOCUMENT 5

Page 286



DOCUMENT 5

Page 287



DOCUMENT 5

Page 288



DOCUMENT 5

Page 289



DOCUMENT 5

Page 290



DOCUMENT 5

Page 291



DOCUMENT 5

Page 292



DOCUMENT 5

Page 293



DOCUMENT 5

Page 294



DOCUMENT 5

Page 295



DOCUMENT 5

Page 296



DOCUMENT 5

Page 297



DOCUMENT 5

Page 298



DOCUMENT 5

Page 299



DOCUMENT 5

Page 300



DOCUMENT 5

Page 301



DOCUMENT 5

Page 302



DOCUMENT 5

Page 303



DOCUMENT 5

Page 304



DOCUMENT 5

Page 305



DOCUMENT 5

Page 306



DOCUMENT 5

Page 307



DOCUMENT 5

Page 308



DOCUMENT 5

Page 309



DOCUMENT 5

Page 310



DOCUMENT 5

Page 311



DOCUMENT 5

Page 312



DOCUMENT 5

Page 313



DOCUMENT 5

Page 314



DOCUMENT 5

Page 315



DOCUMENT 5

Page 316



DOCUMENT 5

Page 317



DOCUMENT 5

Page 318



DOCUMENT 5

Page 319



DOCUMENT 5

Page 320



DOCUMENT 5

Page 321



DOCUMENT 5

Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



Page 356



Page 357



Page 358



Page 359



Page 360



Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



. . . . . .  
r . . RE: 

. . . 
, . 

. . . 1' . . 
. . 1. Witral &rough . . Council kthe ~ o u ~ c i l " )  has agreed to offer to ~nterp&e solutions , . I  . :  ' * .  

. . ... (NW) ("you") a g r p  of up to Nine Hundred and ~ ine teen  Thousand Five Hundred , ' 

... . . 
! . . 

. . : pounds (E919,500) ("the Grant") upon ihe termsand conditionkSet out below." . . . . 
. . . .  . . !. . . . '  . . . . . . .  I 

. . ! . . . . . . . . : ! 
. . 

. . 2. .  he Grant is:offefed to you in order to financially assist Lou to carry out and 
I 1 .  . . . . 

. . 
.' completethe 'ISUS Completientary Servicei project '(.,the ~ io j&d" )  desc~bedin , 

. . :> . . 

. .your application f?r the G ~ & Y  and in any subsequent informatiqn yoti have . . . . .  . . .  
4 I : . . . . . . 

. submiiied to thedead of Housing~nd ~ i~enera t ibn ,  ~ e l ~ h b o k r ~ o o d ' s  ~ 6 a k .  ,:': 
! ' . . ,  . . :.I. 

. . 
. . 

~eseneration Degartment Wailasey Town ~ a i ~ , ~ r i & t o n  ~ k e t ,  wailasey CH44 . : . '  

. . .  , 
I '  . . .  . . . . ..; . . . . 

.: . 
. . . ., .. BED. i~ . . 

. . . . . . .  
, 3: The to enhancethe NWDA . ' . . ,, 

. . . . .  
. . . . 

. . .  . . . . . . . .  . . . . 
. . 1 . . 

. . . . . . . 
, . 

. . 
. . . . 

. . a ,  Monitoring co$etage for alln6w businesses upti three ye&s-of trading . ' 
, .  1 . . . . 

' including sessionsat i h k e  monthly in&rvah.nd also 
. . : .  .< .  

. . 
. . 

I . . .  .I. 
, 0 : provision of Specialist post start and aftercare adviser suppbi ; . . 

. .  .. . . . . . :  1:. . . 
. . , . 

. . 1 . . 

. ~ . . i  1 ~. 
. . '~ 1 

. , 
; ' t  

' ,  . j . . . .  . . 
. i , * 

I i . . ,  .' 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 375



4. You must ensure that the Project produces the outputs ("Outputs") detailed at 

. Appendix 1 within the lifetime of the project.' Your project will be monitored 

. against these 0,utputs. 

5. Your project will be allocated funds as set out below and will be monitored against 

the Financial Profile as set out at Appendix 1. 

6. : Claims for payment of the Grant shall be made in writingto the Head of Housing ,. 

and Regeneration, Neighbourhoods Team, Regeneration Department, Wallasey 

Town Hall, Brigtiton Street, Wallasey CH44 8ED in such form as the Head of . . 

Housing and Regeneration requires and shall include invoices andlor such other 

, . 
evidence of expenditure as the Head of Housing and Regeneration andlor the 

. . . . 

Wirral Borough Council shall require. 

7. T h e  Grant shall be paid only against expenditure which is eligible for grantfundin&; . 
.. . 

under Council Standing Orders and the  omm mission in^ process of Working wir'rai . , 

and where applicable European Social Fund regulations. For details of ESF 

requirements please see Appendix 2 (attachedj. In respect of the Project the 

items eligible forgrant funding are costsin relation to those activities in relation to 

3 above: 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 376



Only expenditure incurred after the date of this offer is eligible for grant 

funding. . ' 

8. In particular you should be aware that the following are not eligible for grant . .. 

, . 
. . .  

funding:- . . 

a] expenditure on activities of a political or exclusively religious nature; 

b] expenditure supported from other government sources, local authority grants, 

charges paid by leasehdlders, or EC structural funds, to the extent that the 

combined grant and other support total more than 100% of the project or 

scheme costs;, . , . . 

c] expenditure on works or activities which any person has a statutory duty to.  
. . 

undertake,except where there is strong justification in terms of the 

regeneration outputs or impact that will result e.g. in the case of beneficial 

activity brought forward, or carried out in a way which best promotes 

sustainable regeneration, as a result of grant support; 

d] recoverable input VAT incurred: 

el any liability arising out of negligence; 

fl payments for unfair dismissal or redundancy to staff employed on fixed term 

, contracts; . . 
.. . . . 

g] expenditure on a project not previously approved and for which it is intended 

that grant will be claimed, where such expenditure took place before the issue 

of a funding agreement letter from Wirral Borough Council; 

h] payments made in advance of need. 

3 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 377



This list is not comprehensive and you are advised fo seek advice from thetiead 

of  ~ o u s i n s  and ~eaeneration, before incurring expenditure, if vou are in any 

' doubf as to whether i t  is elbible for arant funding. 

9. The amount of Grant payable shall be calculated as 100% of the total cost of the . . 

eligible expenditure of the Project up to a maximum of Nine Hundred and 

Nineteen Thousand Five Hundred Pounds (£919,500). 

10. The first grant of up to £175,000 shall only be payable on or before the 31'' day of 

March, 2009. T h e  last date you may make a claim for a payment during the 
. .. .. . 

?,? 

current year is 16'~day-of ~ p r i l ,  2010.. The final date you may make a claim for a 
, . 

payment against,this project is 31 day of October, 2012. 

11. Any material changes to this Agreement must be agreed and approved before : 
. . 

pr&eeding..~his includes any. changes resulting in more than a 10% reduction ih' 
Outputs. No amendment or variation shall be effective unless it is secured in 

writing and signed by or on behalf of each of the parties and all consequential 

amendments required to be made to the offer as a result of such amendments are 

addressed. 

Failure to notify changes that alter the nature of the Project or failure to obtain 

prior agreement to changes may result in withdrawal of all funding. You must 

notify all changes in writing immediately and seek agreement before proceeding. 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 378



12. You must inform the Head of Housing and Regeneration if you receive any other 

grant funding in respect of the Project from another public body or authority and 

provide evidence of such grant funding. Wirral Borough Council reserves the right 

to vary the amount of the Grant in the light of any such grant aid. This may 

include asking you to repay the Grant or a part of it. 

13. You must not vary or deviate from the Project as described in your application for 

the Grant or in any information you have subsequently given to the Head of 

Housing and Regeneration in support of your application without the prior 

agreement of the Head of Housing and Regeneration in writing. 

14. You must provide to the Head of Housing and Regeneration such information with 

regard to the Project (and in particular with regard to the Outputs), including 

invoices, certificates, vouchers, books and records, as the Head of Housing and 
. . . . . .  . . . . . 

Regeneration may from time to time require. Copies of all documentation must'bi 

held and be made available for inspection for a period of seven years after the 

date of completion. 

15. Where applicable, you must comply with the European Commission publicity 

requirements as specified in Appendix 3 attached. You are responsible for 

ensuring that European Funding from the ESF is publicised to ESF and match 

funded participants and the general public. In addition, you must displayon any .. 

property acquired or used in connection with the Project or on any stationery or 

literature used or. produced in connection with the Project a sign or statement (as . ;.!:, 
. . . . 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 379



. . 

appropriate) first approved by the Head of Housing and Regeneration to the effect 

that the Project i s  grant aided byboth the European Social Fund and a statement 

to the effect that the 'Project is funded by the Wirral ~orough ~ o u n r h  Working 

Neighbourh'oods Fund'. This should be supported with the. Wirral council and the 

Wirral Local Strategic Partnership logos which can be provided by the Head of 
I 

Housing and Regeneration upon request. 

16. You must start to carry out the Project as soon as reasonably practicable after the 

date on which you accept this offer and thereafter you. must proceed diligently and - :'. 
. .. 

. ,  . 
complete the Project within the specified times. 

17. If you are in breach of any of the terms and conditions of this offer at any time 

before the expiry of the period of three years after the date of the last payment of 

Grant the Council shall not be obliged to make any further payment of Grant and 

further the Council reserves the right to:- 

0 vary the amount of Grant payable; or 

suspend payment of Grant; or - 
. . 

0 withhold paymentof Grant; 
. . 

. , 

. o  require you to repay some or all of the Grant. 

18. If the Council shall require you to repay some or all of the Grant pursuant to the 

terms and conditions of th,is offer you must do so within fourteen days of such a 

request. If you do not do so you will also be required to pay to the Council interest 

upon the sum requested at the rate which is 3% above the base lending rate of 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 380



NATWEST Bank PIC from and including the day fifteen days after the request for 

payment until the date of actual payment. 

19. You must obsewe and perform the terms and conditions of this offer throughout 

the period during which you carry out the Project and for a further period of three 

years after the date of the last payment of Grant. 

20. You shall take reasonable steps to obtain value for money when you acquire 

goods and services in connection with the Intervention by obtaining quotations (in 

writing where any goods or services are expected to cost in excess of £750) or ., . ' .,..: . . 

applying competitive tendering unless there are overriding reasons why this would 
.' 

be inappropriate. If you are in any doubt as to whether a competitive tendering . '. 
process is appropriate in any circumstances you are advised first to consult the 

Head of Housing and Regeneration. 

. , . .. 
. . 

21. You will have an ~ ~ u a l i t y  and Diversity policy that is actively implemented and . . 

regularly reviewed. Where appropriate you should have Equality Schemes which 

comply with the relevant legislation. You must be able to produce evidence of your 
' 

policies and activities to the Head of Housing and Regeneration if requested. As 

a minimum, you will be expected to maintain and submit appropriate monitoring 

records which demonstrate key information about who is benefiting from the 

Project as detailed in section 4. 

22. There are a number of pieces of equalities legislation must abide by, covering 
,.: 

the areas of Race, Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation and Religion or 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 381



Belief. For up-to-date guidance on duties under this legislation, contact the and 

Human Rights Commission (www.eclualitvhumanriqhts.com) 

23. Statutory Obligations 

In carrying out the Project you must comply at all times with all statutory 
. . 

requirements, other laws and regulations relating to you, your organisation andtor 

the Project and its operation including (without limitation) adherence to: 

9 the national minimum wage; 

the "Working Time" Directive; 

other employment law 

e the legislation relating to Health and Safety; 
. . .,. 

the Iegislatibn pertaining to the protection of child, including (where 

appropriate) gaining registration under the Children's Act 1989 and any 

statutory re-enactment or modification thereof; 

* the legislation pertaining to Data protection; 

e the laws and legislation pertaining to Intellectual property rights; 

e OFSTED requirements, and 

e human rights legislation 

24. You shall at all times(unless exempted as the result of the public status of your ' . - ,  
. . 

Organisation) maintain adequate insurance cover in connection with the 
. . . . 

.:.. . 

intervention, including employee and public liability cover for your Organisation. ., ' '  

DOCUMENT 9

Page 382



25. You must effect and maintain throughout the period of this agreement insurance 

in respect of any purchased, built, altered,, repaired or improved either ' . 

wholly or partly with the Grant with a reputable insurer or insurers and in an . . .  . 

. . 
amount sufficient to rebuild or repair such property in theevent of its damage or ::. 
destruction by any of the insured risks. 

26. You must effect and maintainthroughout the period of this agreement insurance 

in respect of any goods, equipment or any other thing purchased either wholly or 

- 

partly with the Grant with a reputable insurer or insurers and in an amount sufficient 

to replace such goods, equipment or any other thing in the event of its loss, 

damage or destruction by any of the insured risks. 

27. You must effect and maintain throughout the period of this agreement employer's-.: :: . .a. . .~ .. . 

liability insurancewith a reputable insurer or insurers to cover in respect of anyone . .. 

employed by you in connection with the intervention and also effect adequate third 

- party insurance in connection with the Intervention. 

28. Obtain any such other insurance, as your Organisation considers appropriate and 

prudent. 

29. You must produce to the Head of Housing and Regeneration (so often as may be 

required but not more than once in any period of . , insurance) a copy of the policy or ., 
. . 

. . 

policies of insurance effected by you together with a copy of the receipt or receipts .::. 
. . 

for the then current premium or premiums. 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 383



30. You must observe and perform in accordance with the terms and conditions of 

this agreement throughout the period during which you carry out the Intervention 

and for a further period of three years after the date-of the last payment of Grant. 

. . Signed- ............................................................................ For Wirral Borough 
. - 

Council 

DATED:. ..................................... 

I M e  ............................................................................ :./for and on behalf of 

......................... ..... .......................... (the * person(s) /company /organisation * 

named in the above offer) HEREBY ACCEPT the offer of Grant on the terms and 

conditions set out above and HEREBY AGREE and UNDERTAKE with the Council to be 

bound by and to observe and perform those terms and conditions. 

Name (and position in *companylfirm/organisation*) 

.:. ;. .................... :. . . . . . . (P lease printj .................................... .............................. 

......... Signature(s): :.. ............................................................ 

Date: ......... ..: ....................... 

(" Please delefe as appropriate) 
. . 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 384



DOCUMENT 9

Page 385



DOCUMENT 9

Page 386



APPENDIX 1 - FINANCIAL FORECAST 

DOCUMENT 9

P
age 387



- APPENDIX 2 - ESF (EU) AND NATIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

The Applicant is deemed to be fully aware of and must abide by and adhere to the 

following EU Structural Fund Regulations as issued from time to time by the EU: 

Council Regulation (EC) No 108312006 laying down general provisions on the European 

Regional Development Fund, the European Social Fund and the Cohesion Fund and 

repbaling Regulatiqn (EC) 126011999; 

Regulation 108112006 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the European' 

Social Fund and repealing Regulation (EC) No 178411999;' 
. . . . .. .. 

CommissionRegulation 182812006 setting out rules for the implementation of Council 

Regulation (EC) No 108312006 laying down general provisions on the European Regional 

~evelopment Fund, the European Social Fund and the Cohesion Fund and of Regulation . , 

(EC) No 108012006 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the European 

Regional Development ~ u n d  Information and Publicity Measures; . . 

EC State Aid rules applicable at the date that ESF support is granted. 

Where ESF funding is identified as contributing to the Grant, you must agree to: 

Comply with and adhere to all European Union (EU) Structural Fund Regulations, Public 

procurement . . Directives and . ESF . (Non CFO) Beneficiary Guidance by the 

Managing Authority,in delivering ESF priorities. . . 
. . 

. ,  . 

Ensure that any subcontracted ESF provision complies with ail EU Structural Fund 

Regulations. 

Use best endeavours to deliver the outputs and results specified in Section 4 in 

accordance with the terms and conditions set out in the Agreement and Schedules. 

Repay any ESF expenditure that is deemed ineligible in accordance with Structural Fund 

Regulations and related guidance and in accordance with the specifications of this 

Agreement and Schedules. 

The Applicant must ensure compliance with the conditions set out in this Agreement. In 

particular the Applicant must: 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 388



e establish effective monitoring and financial systems; so that thecost of each activity, 

output andresult expected to be generatedcan be clearly identified. 

e notify the Managing Authority immediatelyif any financial irregularity in the use of 

ESF is suspdcted and.indicate the steps being taken in response. Irregularity-means 

any fraud or pther impropriety, mismanagement, or us6 of funds for purposes other 

than that approved; . ~ . 

make documents available and provlde reasonable access for: 

0 inspection visits and scrutiny of files by, but not limited to, representatives of the 

DWP Audit Authority, Managing Authority, Government Departments, the 

~uropean Commission, National Audit Office (NAO) or the European Court of 

Auditors; 
. . 

. . . . 

'0 external audits and review of activity and of financial, appraisal and monitoring 

systems. 

The European Commission, the European Court of Auditors, Government Offices, NAO, 

DWP and other regulatory bodies as required by or on behalf of DWP will have right of 

access to the Applicant for audit and inspection purposes. Auditors may wish to visit any 

sub contractors to check that expenditure claimed is actual, eligible and relevant. 

4. CHANGES TO ESF PARTICIPANT GUIDANCE AND REQUIREMENTS 

4.1 All amendments, variations or additions made by the Managing Authority, from time to 

time, for the distribution and I or payment of monies and I or administration of any ESF 

provision or programme shall be notified to you via the €SF website and you shall be 

deemed to . have . .  both actual and constructive knowledge of suchamendments, variations 

: or additions from the dAe that they are placed on. the ESF website. ESFD will use best 

endeavours to circulate any guidance in advance of publication on the website. 

For further guidance please visit the ESF website: http://www.esf.aov.uk 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 389



APPENDIX 3 - PUBLICITY 

. . 
1. This schedule sets out the information and publicity requirements for the delivery of ESF 

activity, including all projects that arebeing delivered (in part or entirely) through match 

funding. 

2. The requirements relate to ESF activity and include measures that must be observed to 

comply with the publicity requirements of the European Commission and Secretary of State. 

3. The Applicant and any sub contractors are required to acknowledge financial help from the 

ESF. The Applicant is responsible for ensuring that ESF and match funded support activity is 

publicised to ESF participants and the general public. 

4. The Applicant and any partners are required to implement specific ESF information and 

publicity measures required by ESF Guidance. These measures include: 

displaying the ESF logo and publicising EU support. These must be used on information 

and publicity materials, erection and display of an ESF plaque at the Applicants premises 

5. - In addition, the Applicant is required to undertake andlor support other measures to publicise 

the ESF programme that are agreed at national and regional levels andlor which may be 

required. 

DOCUMENT 9

Page 390



‘CONFIDENTIAL’ 
 
WIRRAL WATERFRONT PARTNERSHIP INITIATIVE 
 
 
DATE: WEDNESDAY 13TH OCTOBER 2004 
 
REPORT: WIRRAL WATERFRONT BUSINESS START PROGRAMME 
 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 At the meeting of the Business, Investment and Tourism Programme Steering Group [BIT 

PSG] on 16th September, 2004, I advised of the requirement to change the delivery 
arrangements of the Business Start Programme following discussions with Greater 
Merseyside Enterprises [now rebranded as Business Link for Greater Merseyside].  The 
BIT PSG agreed to these immediate changes in delivery because of the concern about the 
effect the current arrangements were having on business starts. 

 
1.2 The need for this change is set out in the report. 
 
1.3 The change in delivery arrangements required a competitive tendering process which is 

also reported.  The lowest tender is well within the budget, which was approved by the 
Board on May 15, 2002, for the Business Start Programme.  The difference between the 
budget and the tendered price will be reallocated to support other economic projects within 
Programme C.  The Cabinet of the Council approved the change of delivery arrangements 
on September 23, 2004. 

 
1.4 The new Business Start Programme commenced on October 1, 2004. 
 
1.5 The Board are requested to note and endorse the actions taken to enable business starts to 

be assisted and the lifetime targets of the Initiative to be met. 
 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 The Wirral Waterfront Board meeting held on 15th May, 2002, considered and approved an 

application from Greater Merseyside Enterprise [GME is now re branded as Business Link 
for Greater Merseyside] to provide a Business Start Service for Wirral Waterfront clients. 

 
2.2 The objective of the project was to provide a service that recognised the needs of new 

businesses in a regeneration area and in doing so provide a service to Wirral Waterfront 
clients wishing to start their own business, irrespective of their growth potential, thus 
enhancing the business start provision provided by GME. 

 
2.3 Unfortunately, ERDF funding restrictions have resulted in Business Link being unable to 

contract with Wirral Waterfront beyond December 2004 and since October 2003 they have 
only been able to offer a restricted service which does not meet Wirral Waterfront’s 
objectives or those of Business Link.  These issues have been discussed at length with 

6

DOCUMENT 10

Page 391



Government Office and are still continuing to address the situation.  However, it is the 
view of Business Link and Wirral Waterfront that business starts are being affected by this 
uncertainty and, therefore, this proposal has been jointly developed to address it. 

 
2.4 During this restricted period the number of new start businesses has declined and to 

overcome this Wirral Waterfront and Business Link have identified three accredited 
suppliers used by Business Link who could provide, directly, the enhanced level of service 
that is required by Wirral Waterfront.  The three suppliers and their tendered prices are 
shown below:- 

 
Enterprise Solutions [NW] Ltd £395,975 
Designated Associates £685,500 
Social Enterprise Network £993,000 
 

2.5 There is a significant difference in the tender prices and this has arisen for the following 
reasons:- 

 
• Enterprise Solutions are currently actively working in the Business Start sector and are 

delivering a number of these programmes for other clients.  They have at least ten 
years experience of delivering these programmes, have a good success rate of creating 
business starts and have a detailed knowledge of Wirral having worked in the area 
before; 

 
• Designated Associates are essentially a generalist training company and their proposal 

will involve the use of external consultants to provide the expertise in relation to 
business start.  They also require the work with a greater number of clients to achieve 
the Wirral Waterfront business start target because they do not have the detailed 
knowledge of Enterprise Solutions; 

 
• The Social Enterprise Network developed a complex programme and their conversion 

rate of enquiries into business starts was low in comparison to the other proposals.  
These two reasons account for their high tender price. 

 
2.6 These proposals have been fully evaluated and the Enterprise Solutions tender will provide 

the best value for money and a programme which will meet Wirral Waterfront lifetime 
targets for business starts. 

 
 
3. Project Details 
 
3.1 Enterprise Solutions will provide the complete Business Start service for Wirral 

Waterfront clients which will include a comprehensive training package, one to one 
counselling and mentoring for the clients and a full monitoring programme over 78 weeks 
to ensure sustainability of the new businesses. 

DOCUMENT 10

Page 392



 
3.2 The funding requested is as follows.  The project will be reviewed annually to ensure that 

outputs are being achieved. 
 

 Year 1  
1/10/04 - 30/09/05 

Year 2 
1/10/05 – 30/09/06  

Year 3 
1/10/06 – 31/03/07 

TOTAL 

No. Business 
starts 

72 72 31 175 

Costs of 
managing and 
advertising the 
programme 

£96,390 £86,390 £38,195 £220,975 

Grant for new 
start business 
[average of 
£1,000 per new 
business] 

£72,000 £72,000 £31,000 £175,000 

TOTAL £168,390 £158,390 £69,195 £395,975 
 
3.3 The contract will be administered by experienced Project Managers within the Wirral 

Waterfront Team. 
 
 
4. Views of Greater Merseyside Enterprise 
 
4.1 Unfortunately, Greater Merseyside Enterprise are unable to administer the Wirral 

Waterfront Business Start Programme after December 2004 because they cannot guarantee 
access to European funding for their Merseyside wide Business Start Programme of which 
the Wirral Waterfront Scheme is part.  This is part of a long running discussion that 
Government Office have been having with Greater Merseyside Enterprise / Business Link 
which is not yet resolved.  Business Link are now, at the request of Government Office, 
preparing a Business Start Strategy for Greater Merseyside [including Halton] and Wirral 
Waterfront are working closely with Business Link to ensure that the Wirral Waterfront 
programme dovetails with the strategy.  These discussions will continue over the next few 
months. 

 
4.2 The course of action set out in this report has been discussed and agreed with Greater 

Merseyside Enterprise as it will complement their existing activities and deliver the 
maximum benefit to businesses wishing to start up in the Wirral Waterfront area. 

 
 
5. Recommendations 
 
5.1 The Board are requested to note and endorse the actions taken to enable business starts to 

be assisted and the lifetime targets of the Initiative to be met. 
 
 
 
 
 
David Ball 
Executive Manager 

DOCUMENT 10

Page 393



This page is intentionally left blank



DOCUMENT 11

Page 395



DOCUMENT 11

Page 396



DOCUMENT 11

Page 397



DOCUMENT 11

Page 398



DOCUMENT 11

Page 399



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 401



Page 402



Page 403



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 443



Page 444



Media Archive
Chaplain | Barrister | Human Right

 
Community Relations 
Faith Relations 
BBC 
Chaplaincy 
Education 
Faiths Forum for London 
Guardian Articles 
Guildford 
Interfaith 
JC Articles 
Jerusalem Post Articles 
Jewish Chronicle 
Jewish News Articles 
JTA Articles 
Letters 
Mayor of London 
Mosque 
News 
Olympics 
Open Jewish Culture 
Schools 
Surrey 
The FA 
Times Higher Education Supplement 
UK General Election 
Universities 
University of Surrey 
2011 
2010 
2009 
2008 
2007 

•
Hindu•
Irish Jews•
Jewish•
Muslim•
Olympics•
University of Surrey•
Adrian Cohen•
Alex Goldberg•
Alexander Goldberg•
Anti-Semitism•
BBC•
Boris Johnson•
Buddhist•
Christian•
Coalition•
Community Relations•
Conservatives•
David Cameron•
Doug Krikler•
Elections•

Page 1 of 4News Archive

20/02/2013http://www.alexgoldberg.eu/media_archive/files/category-the-fa.html

DOCUMENT 16

Page 445



Ephraim Zinger•
Faith in Football•
Faith Relations•
Faiths Forum for London•
Football•
Football Association•
Gordon Brown•
Guildford•
Haredi•
Hospitals•
Immigration•
Interfaith Dialogue•
Islamophobia•
Israel Olympic Association•
Jack Gilbert•
JCLG•
JCRC-NY•
Jeremy Newmark•
Jerusalem•
Jewish-Muslim Relations•
kippah•
Kosher Food•
Labour•
Letters•
Liberal Democrats•
LOCOG•
Maccabi•
Marriage•
Mayor of London•
Met Police•
Multifaith Centre•
Munich Commemoration•
Muslim•
New York•
News•
NHS Cuts•
Nick Clegg•
Olympics•
Open Jewish Culture•
Phil Peters•
Richard Barnes•
Royal Surrey County Hospital•
Schools•
Shared Futures•
Sir Ludwig Guttman•
Surrey Adveritser•
UJIA•
UK General Election•
Universities•
Wembley Stadium•
yarmulke•

RSS Feed 

The FA
News Archive

Faith in Football
27/06/11 09:18 

Page 2 of 4News Archive

20/02/2013http://www.alexgoldberg.eu/media_archive/files/category-the-fa.html

DOCUMENT 16

Page 446



 

 
Monday, 27 June, 2011 
Working group set up to help tackle anti-Semitism and Islamophobia. 
 

 
 
On the 22 June, The FA held the inaugural meeting of the Faith In Football 
Working Group at Wembley Stadium.  
 
The group, chaired by Alex Goldberg from the Faiths Forum for London and the 
European Center for Jewish Leadership, met to agree a set of principles by 
which the group would work together; and use the power of football to break 
down barriers between people of different religious denominations.  
 
The meeting was attended by Alison Vaughan (Kick it Out), Butch Fazal (Luton 
SFC and FA REAG Member), Majid Lavji and Lee Owen (Asia Europe), 
Sukhvinder Cheema, Rimla Akhter (Muslim Women Sports Foundation and FA 
REAG member), Rabbi Zevi Sanders (Southport Hebrew Congregation and 
Manager Crumpsall FC), Aisling Cohn (Three Faith Forums) and Abdal Ahmed 
(Osmani Trust) and a representative of the Metropolitan Police Safe 
Neighbourhood Teams. 
 
Over the next 12 months, the group will be setting up a number of tournaments 
and competitions across the country at high profile stadiums and raising good 
practice around Faith In Football as part of The FAs Get Into Football campaign. 
The group will also work closely with Kick it Out as part of the Kick it Out 
Weeks of Action campaign as well as holding education sessions at Wembley 
stadium. 
 
Alex Goldberg said: “It's remarkable that we have a consensus within this group 
that football can promote social action and break down barriers between people 
of different faiths. Collectively we have a responsibility to tackling faith based 
discrimination in the game, particularly Anti-Semitism and Islamophobia, and a 
need to bridge the gap between football and religious communities where 
football has not been played in a structured way. Clearly, The FA is moving in 
the right direction in addressing these issues and moving this important agenda 

Page 3 of 4News Archive

20/02/2013http://www.alexgoldberg.eu/media_archive/files/category-the-fa.html

DOCUMENT 16

Page 447



forward.” 
 
Butch Fazal of Luton SFC, added: ”It’s a piece of work that is critically important 
and by raising awareness through this group and educating others, we can 
begin to challenge Islamophobia and Anti-Semitism.” 
 
Alison Vaughan, Campaign Manager for Kick it Out, said: ”It is really important 
that we recognise good practice in this area of work, and through our Weeks of 
Action programmes, we can encourage education and raise awareness around 
this topic in schools and pull together regional seminars to debate and discuss 
the topic further.” 
 
Rimla Akhter of the Muslim Women’s Sports Foundation commented: ”It is 
equally important to educate the adults and parents as well as young people.” 
 
Finally, The FA's Equality Co-ordinator Jonathan Mills said: “Over the past 
couple of years, The FA has been working closely with John Mann MP on a 
whole football approach to tackling Anit-Semitism and Islamophobia. This 
working group is certainly a step in the right direction in promoting unity 
between people of different faiths.” 
 
The group will meet again in September in the West Midlands, if you would like 
to get involved please contact Alex Goldberg alexander@jdceurope.org or 
Jonathan Mills jonathan.mills@thefa.com

Tags: Faith in Football, Football Association, Anti-Semitism, Islamophobia, Community 
Relations

© Alex Goldberg 2011 Contact Us 

Page 4 of 4News Archive

20/02/2013http://www.alexgoldberg.eu/media_archive/files/category-the-fa.html

DOCUMENT 16

Page 448



HOME

ABOUT US 

WEEKS OF ACTION 

LATEST NEWS 

COMMUNITY 

WOMEN IN FOOTBALL 

EDUCATION 

EQUALITY STANDARD 

ASIANS IN FOOTBALL 

PLAYERS AND MANAGERS 

INTERNATIONAL 

HOMOPHOBIA 

GRASS ROOTS 

REPORT IT 

PIONEERS EXHIBITION 

MENTORING AND LEADERSHIP 
PROJECT 

ONLINE SHOP 

CONTACT US 

SUBSCRIBE 

BLACK AND ASIAN COACHES 
ASSOCIATION 

[Community] Faith in Football group hold inaugural meeting
Friday 1 Jul 2011

Different religious groups met at Wembley Stadium last week to discuss using football as a way of 
breaking down barriers between different faiths.

The inaugural meeting of the Faith in Football Working Group saw representatives from Jewish 
and Muslim communities, The FA, Kick It Out and the Metropolitan Police agree a set of common 
principles around a 12-month action plan that includes tournaments and competitions, education 
sessions at Wembley and tackling faith based discrimination via the Kick It Out weeks of action 
events later this year.

Faith in Football Chairman, Alex Goldberg, said: “We have a consensus within this group that 
football can promote social action and that we all have a responsibility to tackling faith based 
discrimination in the game, particularly anti-Semitism and Islamophobia. 

“There’s a definite need to bridge the gap between football and religious communities where the 
game has not been played in a structured way and The FA is moving in the right direction in 
addressing these issues and moving this important agenda forward,” said Goldberg who works 
with Faith Forum London and the European Jewish Centre.

Kick It Out’s Alison Vaughan, added: “It is really important that we recognise good practice in this 
area of work. Through our Weeks of Action programmes we can encourage education and raise 
awareness around this topic in schools and pull together regional seminars to debate and discuss 
the topic further.”

Faith in Football Working Group members also include Butch Fazal (Luton SFC), Majid Lavji and 
Lee Owen (Asia Europe), Sukhvinder Cheema  and Rimla Akhter (Muslim Women Sports 
Foundation), Rabbi Zevi Sanders (Southport Hebrew Congregation and Crumpsall FC), Aisling 
Cohn (Three Faith Forums) and Abdal Ahmed (Osmani Trust).  

From The FA

KICK IT OUT ON TWITTER

Follow Kick It Out on Twitter 
ensure you're aware of all the
latest updates and informatio
 

CARL FRAMPTON

 
"It is very important that 
people from all backgrounds
are made to feel welcome in
sporting environment." 
 
Carl Frampton, IBF Inter-

Page 1 of 2Latest News

20/02/2013http://www.kickitout.org/news.php/news_id/5159

DOCUMENT 17

P
age 449



Your e-mail address

 

Friend's e-mail address

 

Continental Super-
Bantamweight title holder

© 2013 Kick It Out
> Website by Story

Page 2 of 2Latest News

20/02/2013http://www.kickitout.org/news.php/news_id/5159

DOCUMENT 17

P
age 450



APPENDIX 6 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Letter from Merseyside Police 
 

Page 451



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 453



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 7 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

BIG Summary Report 
 

Page 455



This page is intentionally left blank



BIG 
 

The BIG process 
 
1.1 Council of 2nd March 2009 agreed a £50,000 grant programme, along with 

£400,000 of Working Wirral funding, to be made available ‘for one year to give 
immediate support to previously successful micro businesses employing 10 or 
fewer employees who now face difficulties as a result of the credit crunch1’.  

 
1.2 The grant programme was referred to as the Business Investment Grant (BIG) 

Fund or BIG Support Grant.  
 
1.3 A Cabinet decision of 23rd February 20092 had targeted the creation of new 

employment opportunities as the main aim of the fund. A Cabinet decision of 
19th March 20093 widened this to include supporting the sustainability of the 
business. 
 

1.4 The BIG fund was a capital investment programme aimed at supporting 
companies who, during the economic downturn, had experienced problems in 
securing capital investment. It was hoped that, through the availability of this 
funding from the Council, this would encourage financial and other institutions 
to invest in Wirral businesses.  
 

1.5 The funding available ranged from £4,000 to a maximum of £20,000 per 
project. 
 

1.6 Businesses prepared a BIG application with the support of Enterprise 
Solutions (NW) Limited. 
 

1.7 For each application, the Chief Accountant of the Council’s Finance 
Department reviewed the financial information submitted and provided Invest 
Wirral with a memorandum with comments on the application and financial 
information. 
 

1.8 Council officers, taking account of the Chief Accountant’s comments, 
prepared a BIG Appraisal form which was then circulated to the BIG Panel to 
decide whether to accept the application. If the panel agreed the 
recommendation to approve an application, a report was presented to the 
relevant cabinet member for them to authorise. 
 

1.9 The panel was made up of council officers, members of Business Link, bank 
representatives and representatives of the local business community. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 ‘Business Support – Response to the Current Economic Climate’ p11 para. 4.1(b). Website link: 
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=357  
2 Website link: http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=356  
3 Website link: http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=357  

Page 457



Complainants 
 

2.1 In June 2011 a former employee of Enterprise Solutions raised concerns 
about the BIG and ISUS grant programmes. The complainant was latterly 
joined by a second former employee in raising these concerns. 

 
2.2 On 29th June 2011, a complainant emailed Invest Wirral and Enterprise 

Solutions with their concerns. On 30th June 2011, the complainant telephoned 
Invest Wirral to reiterate these concerns.  
 

2.3 On 5th July 2011 Wirral Council’s Director of Regeneration and 
representatives of Invest Wirral met the complainant to discuss the issues 
raised. Following this meeting, the matter was raised with NWDA. 
 

2.4 A summary of the complainants’ allegations is included in Grant Thornton’s 
final report documentation.  
 

2.5 On 12th August 2011 these allegations were reported to internal audit, and an 
investigation was commenced into the issues raised, latterly conducted by the 
Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 
 
Review of Internal Audit draft reports 
 

3.1 Following the decision of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor to retire, the 
Council’s Chief Executive requested that the Interim Director of Finance 
review the reports in their draft form. 

 
3.2 The Interim Director of Finance reported that the draft BIG report would not 

stand up to an external review of the working papers and supporting 
evidence.  
 

3.3 The draft internal audit reports were not made publicly available at this point in 
order not to prejudice any possible future investigations into the complainants’ 
concerns, not, as has been suggested, because the reports were critical of 
council officers. 
 

3.4 The Interim Director of Finance recommended that an external firm of 
accountants or solicitors specialising in investigations for local authorities 
reviewed the evidence, allegations and investigations that had taken place. 
 

3.5 In October 2012, following a tender process, Grant Thornton were appointed 
to deliver this work. 
 

Page 458



Grant Thornton’s BIG report 
 

4.1 Grant Thornton reviewed all of the BIG grants specifically highlighted by the 
complainants.  
 

4.2 Of these, the only major finding was a £500 repeated entry in one company’s 
accounts. As the provider (Enterprise Solutions) was the same as for the 
ISUS scheme, the report was referred to the Police for their consideration. A 
formal written complaint was made to the Police in the form of a statement, 
specifically in relation to ISUS, but which made reference to the BIG scheme.  
 

4.3 Following receipt of the external investigator’s reports on 7th March 2013 and 
after a period of verification and fact checking, Wirral Council published Grant 
Thornton’s summary of its report into BIG as a news story on its website4.  
 

4.4 On 23rd April 2014 the Police wrote to the Council advising that no action was 
to be taken following receipt of Grant Thornton’s draft reports, commenting on 
the Council’s openness and assistance during the enquiry. The Council 
reported the Police response to the external investigator.  
 

4.5 The finalised report was received by Wirral Council on 2nd May 2014. 
 

4.6 The key findings of the BIG report relating to Wirral Council were: 
 

• No concerns were identified regarding the integrity or honesty of any 
Council employees5. 

 
• The external investigators had free access to all information and 

materials held by Wirral Council, and to all employees of Wirral Council 
and Invest Wirral6. 

 
• Wirral Council provided a Service Level Agreement for Enterprise 

Solutions to offer specialist business support, but Grant Thornton says 
it understands that this was never signed7. 

 
• Grant Thornton recommended that Wirral Council should review the 

criteria used to consider current and future grant applications8. 
 

• The investigator notes that how the BIG Panel was to make its 
decisions was not reflected in written terms of reference9. 

 
• The investigator was unable to find documentary evidence of any 

questions regarding the solvency of the applicants being raised during 
the application process or discussed by the BIG panel10. 

                                                 
4 Since December 2012, news items on the Wirral Council website are automatically deleted after 6 
months to save space. This news item has since been deleted. 
5 BIG Report – Introduction p2 para. 1.12 
6 BIG Report – Introduction p2 para. 1.12 
7 BIG Report Executive Summary p3 para. 1.16 
8 BIG Report – Recommendations p56 para. 7.7 
9 BIG Report – Recommendations p56 para. 7.9 
10 BIG Report – Executive Summary p6 para. 2.11 

Page 459



Conclusion 
 

5.1 The external investigator identified issues around the way applications were 
processed for the BIG panel, mostly surrounding the depth of analysis 
provided to BIG panel members.  

 
5.2 Grant schemes will always contain judgements that are inherently subjective, 

and, as noted by the investigator, their report makes no claim to review the 
success of the scheme in hindsight. The report is restricted to looking at 6 
applications, all supplied to the investigator by the complainant who had 
helped to develop them for Enterprise Solutions. 
 

5.3 Over 40 companies received BIG grants under the scheme, of which the vast 
majority were still trading as of July 2014. 
 

5.4 Of particular importance is the fact that, of the small number of applications 
discussed in the external investigator’s report, as of July 2014, the majority 
are still trading.  
 

5.5 By any account therefore, the BIG scheme has had a positive effect on 
Wirral’s economy and business community, creating and safeguarding jobs 
and, in most cases, providing businesses with the resources to expand their 
activities. 
 

Page 460



Notes on Redaction 
 

6.1 The reports were redacted using the following criteria: 
 
6.2 It is widely reported that the company at the centre of these investigations 

was Enterprise Solutions Limited (also trading as Wirral Biz). This is clear 
from Council documentation including committee reports and other 
documentation that is available to the public through our normal disclosure 
policy. 
 

6.3 As such no redaction has been undertaken in respect of Enterprise Solutions 
or its directors as this information is publicly available. 
 

6.4 The Council has a policy in relation to disclosure of officer’s names and where 
council officers may have been named within the reports this policy, based on 
pay scale and position, has been applied to protect their identity. 
 

6.5 Similar protection has been applied to individuals employed either directly or 
as consultants by Enterprise Solutions – and therefore no individual engaged 
by Enterprise Solutions has been named. 
 

6.6 Information that has been considered commercially sensitive has also been 
redacted. Whilst a number of the companies referred to in these reports are 
Limited companies and as such have their accounts on record at Companies 
House, there are instances where financial information is far greater and more 
detailed than that filed at Companies House and as such all financial 
information has been withheld from publication. 
 

6.7 There are documents, specifically contract documents within the Appendices, 
that Wirral Council are not the publishers and as such may also be deemed 
commercially sensitive. 
 

Page 461



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 8 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

ISUS Summary Report 
 

Page 463



This page is intentionally left blank



ISUS 
 
Background 
 

1.1 On 1st April 2009 the North West Development Agency (NWDA) introduced a 
Regional Business Start Programme called Intensive Start-Up Support 
(ISUS). 
 

1.2 Funding was made available by the NWDA and European Regional 
Development Funding (ERDF) to support the ISUS programme. 
 

1.3 NWDA employed A4e to act as managing agents and auditors to the ISUS 
programme. A4e managed the ISUS programme on behalf of NWDA. 
 

1.4 The NWDA undertook a tendering exercise to invite suppliers to tender to 
deliver its programme for the North West. Successful suppliers were then 
invited to become members of an approved panel. 
 

1.5 Local authorities like Wirral were selected as delivery partners. Wirral 
undertook its own mini tender exercise from the approved suppliers on the 
NWDA list to deliver the scheme. The Request for Tender was drafted with 
the template used by the NWDA.  
 

1.6 Following evaluation of the submitted tender documents, Enterprise Solutions 
was awarded the contract, having scored highest. 
 

1.7 The NWDA set a target of 676 new business start-ups for the three-year 
programme, and provided an allocation of £1,593,863 to achieve this and 
other agreed outputs. 
 

1.8 Wirral Council set its own, increased target of 900 new business start-ups, 
having identified this number as being necessary to assist in closing Wirral’s 
enterprise gap, as identified in the Regional Economic Strategy. 
 

1.9 The authority therefore agreed to provide £386,137 of Wirral’s Working 
Neighbourhoods funding to supplement NWDA’s allocation. 
 

1.10 Before ISUS, Wirral Council already had its own business start programme, 
offering a wider range of support. In its tender, Wirral specified that it might 
wish to procure these additional services because of their proven benefits to 
the programme. 
 

1.11 This additional work was awarded to Enterprise Solutions (NW) Limited in 
December 20091 and was formalised by a separate agreement between the 
Council and Enterprise Solutions (NW) Limited. 
 

1.12 To maximise the amount of support that could be given to businesses from 
the Council’s funding allocation, grants were restricted to £500 per business. 
 

1.13 Enterprise Solutions (NW) Limited employed a number of Business Advisors 
to deliver elements of the programme. 
 

                                                 
1 Approved by Cabinet 26th November 2009. Website link: 
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=732  Page 465



Complainants 
 

2.1 In June 2011 a former employee of Enterprise Solutions raised concerns 
about the BIG and ISUS grant programmes. The complainant was latterly 
joined by a second former employee in raising concerns. 

 
2.2 On 29th June 2011, a complainant emailed Invest Wirral and Enterprise 

Solutions with their concerns. On 30th June 2011, the complainant telephoned 
Invest Wirral to reiterate these concerns.  
 

2.3 On 5th July 2011 Wirral Council’s Director of Regeneration and 
representatives of Invest Wirral met the complainant to discuss the issues 
raised. Following this meeting, the matter was raised with NWDA. 
 

2.4 A summary of the complainants’ allegations is included in Grant Thornton’s 
final report documentation.  
 

2.5 On 12th August 2011 these allegations were reported to internal audit, and an 
investigation was commenced into the issues raised, latterly conducted by the 
Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 
 
Review of Internal Audit draft reports 
 

3.1 Following the decision of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor to retire Wirral 
Council’s Chief Executive requested that the Interim Director of Finance 
review the reports in their current, draft form. 

 
3.2 The Interim Director of Finance reported that the draft Internal Audit BIG 

report would not stand up to an external review of the working papers and 
supporting evidence, and that this would also apply to the draft Internal Audit 
ISUS report.  
 

3.3 The draft Internal Audit reports were not made publicly available at this point 
in order not to prejudice any possible future investigations into the 
complainants’ concerns, not, as has been suggested, because the reports 
were critical of council officers. 
 

3.4 The Interim Director of Finance recommended that an external firm of 
accountants or solicitors specialising in investigations for local authorities 
reviewed the evidence, allegations and investigations that had taken place. 
 

3.5 In October 2012, following a tender process, Grant Thornton were appointed 
to deliver this work. 
 

Page 466



Grant Thornton’s ISUS report 
 

4.1 The ISUS report was received by Wirral Council in draft form in March 2013.  
 

4.2 While there was no suggestion of illegality or wrongdoing by Council officers, 
Grant Thornton’s report strongly discouraged the Council from sharing its 
findings with Enterprise Solutions if it concluded that further investigation was 
applicable2.  
 

4.3 Grant Thornton recommended that the Council considered referring the 
matter to the Police3. 
 

4.4 Upon receipt of the external investigator’s draft reports, and recognising that 
publication could have had the potential effect of prejudicing any further 
investigation by other parties4, the Leader of the Council announced that he 
had referred the ISUS report to the Department of Business, Innovation and 
Skills and to the Police, for them to decide whether to investigate other parties 
further. 
 

4.5 On 23rd April 2014 the Police wrote to the Council advising that no action was 
to be taken following receipt of Grant Thornton’s draft reports, commenting on 
the Council’s openness and assistance during the enquiry. The Council 
reported the Police response to the external investigator.  
 

4.6 The finalised report was received by Wirral Council on 2nd May 2014. 
 

4.7 The key findings of the ISUS report relating to Wirral Council were: 
 

• No concerns were identified regarding the integrity or honesty of any 
Council employees5. 

 
• The investigator was given the access it required to Wirral Council and 

Invest Wirral employees6, as well as to all information and documents 
held by the Council. 

 
• Wirral Council and Grant Thornton had both experienced difficulties in 

accessing Enterprise Solutions records7. 
 

• Wirral Council could not be expected to ‘audit the auditors’ i.e. to look 
for weaknesses in A4e’s work8. 

 
• The investigator says that, by deciding to undertake monitoring reviews 

of the businesses supported when the ISUS programme ended (as 
was the responsibility of Enterprise Solutions) the Council has allowed 
Enterprise Solutions to avoid fulfilling one of its contractual obligations9. 

 

                                                 
2 ISUS Report p83 para. 9.12 
3 p83 para. 9.18 
4 p83 para. 9.20 
5 ISUS Summary Report p2 para. 1.13 
6 ISUS Summary Report p2 para. 1.13 
7 ISUS Report p4 para. 2.11 
8 ISUS Summary Report p15 para. 2.51 
9 ISUS Report p10 para. 3.22 Page 467



• Because of this, a significant amount of public money (in the form of 
Council officers’ time) has been wasted on a ‘basic point of contract 
compliance’10. 

 
• However, Grant Thornton said it could not reach a definitive conclusion 

as to whether the anomalies described in their report resulted in 
overpayment11. 

 
• The report suggests that Wirral Council should obtain legal advice to 

quantify any loss it may have suffered12. 
 

• Grant Thornton recommends that this advice should be sought against 
a backdrop in which one litigant (ISUS 1) has concluded that costly 
litigation against Enterprise Solutions should be avoided on the 
understanding that Enterprise Solutions has few resources with which 
to compensate him13.  

 
• Given the complexity of this matter and key evidence such as the 

complete CRM database not being available, the Council’s Head of 
Legal and Member Services has recommended that action to recover 
specific sums should only be considered if the requisite evidential test 
is met. The litigation risk is a material and significant consideration at 
this time given the difficulties in securing all the relevant evidence.  

 
• Grant Thornton’s report asks if the Council should consider whether the 

sample reviewed was sufficiently large and/or representative to merit 
litigation or Police investigation14.  

 
• They also recommend that Wirral Council continues to search for a full 

set of contractual information and the CRM database15. 
 

• The report also recommends that Wirral creates a repository of signed 
contracts16. 

 

                                                 
10 p26 para. 4.56 
11 p34 para. 5.4 
12 p82 para. 9.7 
13 p82 para. 9.10 
14 p15 para. 3.52 
15 p8 para. 3.13 
16 p85-86 para. 9.34 Page 468



Conclusion 
 

5.1 The ISUS scheme was set up and administered by the NWDA, with A4e as 
managers and auditors, with some funding support provided by Wirral Council 
to meet the local authority’s economic objectives. 

 
5.2 The scheme ran from October 1st 2009 to December 31st 2011. 

 
5.3 The recorded outputs from the ISUS scheme met the initial target set by 

NWDA by achieving 877 new business starts (initial target was 676). This fell 
slightly short of Wirral Council’s target of 900 new business starts. 
 

5.4 The scheme created 1,095 new jobs, short of the NWDA target of 1,216. 
 

5.5 For both these outputs it should be noted that the dissolution of the NWDA 
meant that the scheme did not run its full course. 
 

5.6 At the end of 12 months of the scheme, 94% of new businesses were still 
trading, which surpassed the 93% target set by the NWDA. 
 

5.7 The ISUS scheme can thereby be said to have been a mostly successful 
funding programme, which had significant positive impacts on Wirral’s 
economy and business environment. 

 
 

Page 469



Notes on Redaction 
 

6.1 The reports were redacted using the following criteria: 
 
6.2 It is widely reported that the company at the centre of these investigations 

was Enterprise Solutions Limited (also trading as Wirral Biz). This is clear 
from Council documentation including committee reports and other 
documentation that is available to the public through our normal disclosure 
policy. 
 

6.3 As such no redaction has been undertaken in respect of Enterprise Solutions 
or its directors as this information is publicly available. 
 

6.4 The Council has a policy in relation to disclosure of officer’s names and where 
council officers may have been named within the reports this policy, based on 
pay scale and position, has been applied to protect their identity. 
 

6.5 Similar protection has been applied to individuals employed either directly or 
as consultants by Enterprise Solutions – and therefore no individual engaged 
by Enterprise Solutions has been named. 
 

6.6 Information that has been considered commercially sensitive has also been 
redacted. Whilst a number of the companies referred to in these reports are 
Limited companies and as such have their accounts on record at Companies 
House, there are instances where financial information is far greater and more 
detailed than that filed at Companies House and as such all financial 
information has been withheld from publication. 
 

6.7 There are documents, specifically contract documents within the Appendices, 
that Wirral Council are not the publishers and as such may also be deemed 
commercially sensitive. 

Page 470



APPENDIX 9 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Full Grant Thornton BIG Report (including 
all documents) 

 

Page 471



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 473



Page 474



Page 475



Page 476



Page 477



Page 478



Page 479



Page 480



Page 481



Page 482



Page 483



Page 484



Page 485



Page 486



Page 487



Page 488



Page 489



Page 490



Page 491



Page 492



Page 493



Page 494



Page 495



Page 496



Page 497



Page 498



Page 499



Page 500



Page 501



Page 502



Page 503



Page 504



Page 505



Page 506



Page 507



Page 508



Page 509



Page 510



Page 511



Page 512



Page 513



Page 514



Page 515



Page 516



Page 517



Page 518



Page 519



Page 520



Page 521



Page 522



Page 523



Page 524



Page 525



Page 526



Page 527



Page 528



Page 529



Page 530



Page 531



Page 532



Page 533



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 535



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 537



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 539



Page 540



Page 541



Page 542



Page 543



Page 544



Page 545



Page 546



Page 547



Page 548



Page 549



Page 550



Page 551



Page 552



Page 553



Page 554



Page 555



Page 556



Page 557



Page 558



Page 559



Page 560



Page 561



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 563



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 565



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 567



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 569



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 571



Page 572



Page 573



Page 574



Page 575



Page 576



Page 577



Page 578



Page 579



Page 580



Page 581



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 583



Page 584



Page 585



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 10 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Grant Thornton BIG Report - Executive 
Summary 

 

Page 587



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 589



Page 590



Page 591



Page 592



Page 593



Page 594



Page 595



Page 596



Page 597



Page 598



Page 599



Page 600



Page 601



Page 602



Page 603



Page 604



APPENDIX 11 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Agreement between North West 
Development Agency and Wirral Council 

dated 17 September 2009 
 

Page 605



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 607



Page 608



Page 609



Page 610



Page 611



Page 612



Page 613



Page 614



Page 615



Page 616



APPENDIX 12 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Internal Audit Report 
Working Wirral Regeneration 

Dated 8 March 2010 
 

Page 617



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 619



Page 620



Page 621



Page 622



Page 623



Page 624



Page 625



Page 626



Page 627



Page 628


	Agenda
	2 Business Investment Grant (BIG) and Intensive Start Up Scheme (ISUS) Investigations
	Appendix 1 - Cover
	Appendix 1 - Internal Audit Draft BIG Report
	Appendix 2 - Cover
	Appendix 2 - Internal Audit Draft ISUS Report
	Appendix 3 - Cover
	Appendix 3 - Review of Internal Audit Reports
	Appendix 4 - Cover
	Appendix 4 - Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Executive Summary
	Appendix 5 - Cover
	Appendix 5 - A_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Full Report
	Appendix 5 - B_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Appendix 1 Enquiry Log
	Appendix 5 - C_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Appendix 2 Details of ISUS Files Reviewed
	Appendix 5 - D_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 1
	Appendix 5 - E_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 2
	Appendix 5 - F_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 3
	Appendix 5 - G_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 4
	Appendix 5 - H_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 5
	Appendix 5 - I_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 6
	Appendix 5 - J_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 7
	Appendix 5 - K_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 8
	Appendix 5 - L_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 9
	Appendix 5 - M_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 10
	Appendix 5 - N_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 11
	Appendix 5 - O_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 12
	Appendix 5 - P_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 13
	Appendix 5 - Q_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 14
	Appendix 5 - R_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 15
	Appendix 5 - S_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 16
	Appendix 5 - T_Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Document 17
	Appendix 6 - Cover
	Appendix 6 - Letter from Merseyside Police
	Appendix 7 - Cover
	Appendix 7 - BIG Summary Report
	Appendix 8 - Cover
	Appendix 8 - ISUS Summary Report
	Appendix 9 - Cover
	Appendix 9 - A_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Full Report
	Appendix 9 - B_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Appendix 1
	Appendix 9 - C_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Appendix 2
	Appendix 9 - D_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Appendix 3
	Appendix 9 - E_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 1
	Appendix 9 - F_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 2
	Appendix 9 - G_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 3
	Appendix 9 - H_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 4
	Appendix 9 - I_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 5
	Appendix 9 - J_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 6
	Appendix 9 - K_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 7
	Appendix 9 - L_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 8
	Appendix 9 - M_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 9
	Appendix 9 - N_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 10
	Appendix 9 - O_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 11
	Appendix 9 - P_Grant Thornton BIG Report - Document 12
	Appendix 10 - Cover
	Appendix 10 - Grant Thornton BIG Report - Executive Summary
	Appendix 11 - Cover
	Appendix 11 - Agreement between NWDA and Wirral Council 17 September 2009
	Appendix 12 - Cover
	Appendix 12 - IA Report - Working Wirral Regeneration 8 March 2010




